

EMPOWERING ADVOCATES:

Leading the Fight to Conquer Cancer



2018 ADVOCACY ACCOMPLISHMENTS



Dear Friends,

Throughout 2018, the volunteers and staff of the American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network (ACS CAN) advanced our goal of eliminating death and suffering from cancer. In the midst of challenging political environments, ACS CAN continues to empower advocates to make an impact on the cancer burden with numerous hard-fought legislative victories in the nation's capital, in state capitols and in city halls nationwide.

ACS CAN launched our One Degree Campaign in 2015 to challenge lawmakers to elevate cancer research funding as a national priority. We called on Congress to increase medical research funding at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) by \$6 billion, including \$1 billion for the National Cancer Institute (NCI). After a historic \$3 billion boost by Congress in March 2018 and an additional \$2 billion in September 2018, the budget has grown by \$9 billion for NIH and by \$1 billion for NCI since 2015 – well exceeding our campaign goal. ACS CAN volunteers played an integral role in these tremendous accomplishments by communicating the importance of cancer research funding to their lawmakers, which will have a lasting impact by fueling future scientific discovery so critical to our mission.

Virginia became the 33rd state, in addition to Washington, D.C., to expand access to care through Medicaid, and in November 2018 voters in Idaho, Nebraska and Utah approved ballot measures to increase access to health care through Medicaid for low-income residents in their states. Again, ACS CAN volunteers and staff worked tirelessly to support these policy advancements, which will significantly improve access to health care for underserved populations and help address long-existing health disparities. Meaningful progress was also made to reduce the incidence of cancer resulting from tobacco use. To date, ACS CAN initiatives at the state and local levels have resulted in more than 58% of the U.S. population being covered by comprehensive smoke-free laws in 25 states, Washington, D.C., Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The average state cigarette tax is now \$1.79, thanks to successful state and local initiatives to significantly and regularly increase taxes on all tobacco products.

On the global front, ACS CAN volunteers engaged members of Congress during ACS CAN's annual Leadership Summit & Lobby Day about the global cervical cancer burden and what the U.S. can do to reduce cancer incidence and death in low- and middleincome countries.

These public policy advancements were made possible by our grassroots volunteer network of those impacted by cancer, including cancer patients, survivors and caregivers who have joined ACS CAN to bring the fight to all levels of government. ACS CAN staff collaborated with a wide variety of people and organizations as we continued to expand our diverse partnerships, collaborations and strategic alliances, significantly strengthening our ability to make progress in our fight.

Since I joined ACS CAN in 2008, I've been continually impressed by the dedication and skill of volunteers and staff who devote themselves to influencing policymakers in order to reduce the cancer burden. As I begin my new leadership role, I am both proud and excited to lead ACS CAN into our next successful chapter. Our mission remains unwavering, nonpartisan and achievable. Thank you for your steadfast commitment to our shared goal of making cancer a national priority, and for leading the fight to conquer cancer.



Don a. Jacan

Lisa A. Lacasse, MBA President, ACS CAN

Table of Contents

| ACS CAN Board of Directors | 2 |
|---|---|
| What is ACS CAN? | 3 |
| 2018 Impact | 1 |
| 2018 Advocacy Accomplishments | 5 |
| Sustained Investments in Cancer Research | ŝ |
| Prevention and Early Detection | 3 |
| Improving Quality of Life for Cancer Patients10 |) |
| Increasing Access to Health Coverage1 | 3 |
| Reducing Tobacco's Toll1 | 7 |
| Global Advocacy2 | 1 |
| Bringing Leaders Together in the Fight against Cancer23 | 3 |
| Volunteers: The Heart of ACS CAN25 | 5 |
| Cancer Votes | õ |
| Leadership Summit & Lobby Day27 | 7 |
| 2018 Advocacy Award Recipients29 | 9 |
| ACS CAN Donors | 2 |
| Special Thanks | 7 |

ACS CAN Board of Directors

The ACS CAN Board of Directors is comprised of volunteers who lead ACS CAN in partnership with ACS CAN Chief Executive Officer Gary M. Reedy and President Lisa A. Lacasse.

2018 Board Chair

Richard L. Deming, MD

Directors

Sandra Cassese, MSN, RN, CNS (Vice Chair) P. Kay Coleman William E. Coulter, EdD Kevin J. Cullen, MD The Honorable Dan Glickman John W. Hamilton, DDS (Immediate Past Chair) Bernard A. Jackvony, JD Maureen G. Mann, MS, MBA, FACHE (Treasurer) John J. Manna, Jr., Esq. Michael T. Marquardt Scarlott K. Muller, MPH, RN, FAAN Rick Q. Ngo, MD, FACS William P. Underriner (Secretary) Bruce D. Waldholtz, MD Robert E. Youle

In Memoriam: Len Yordon



The American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network (ACS CAN) family lost one of its titans in December

2018. Len Yordon passed away at the age of 94 in Daytona Beach, Florida.

Since ACS CAN was founded in 2001, Len and his wife, Anne, have been among the organization's most active volunteers. They were recognized for their outstanding volunteer service in 2016 with the American Cancer Society St. George National Award. While the Yordon name will forever be linked to our annual Lights of HOPE ceremony, Len and Anne's contributions to ACS CAN go far beyond that. They have been active participants at our annual Leadership Summit & Lobby Day, meeting with members of Florida's congressional delegation for more than a decade. They also have been involved in nearly every Florida Advocacy Day event for almost two decades, tirelessly promoting the ACS CAN state legislative agenda.

ACS CAN will never forget the tremendous contributions that Len made to the organization's mission to eliminate cancer as a major public health issue.

"Each year, ACS CAN volunteers take our advocacy movement to new, innovative heights. They are the voices for the millions of Americans whose lives have been touched by cancer, and it is their determination that drives our mission. It is an honor to join these dedicated advocates in the fight against cancer. and the ACS CAN Board of Directors thanks our volunteers for another year of hard-fought accomplishments and lifesaving progress."

Richard L. Deming, MD Chair, ACS CAN Board of Directors



What is ACS CAN?

The American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network (ACS CAN) is making cancer a top priority for public officials and candidates at the federal, state and local levels. ACS CAN empowers advocates across the country to make their voices heard and influence evidence-based public policy change as well as legislative and regulatory solutions that will reduce the cancer burden. As the American Cancer Society's nonprofit, nonpartisan advocacy affiliate, ACS CAN is critical to the fight for a world without cancer.

Involvement

ACS CAN is an empowering vehicle for cancer patients, survivors, their families and other experts on the disease to amplify their voice in public policy matters that are relevant to the cancer community at all levels of government. We mobilize our large, powerful grassroots network of cancer advocacy volunteers to bring awareness to lawmakers on cancer issues that matter to their constituents.

ACS CAN staff work closely with the American Cancer Society's research and cancer control leadership to identify and develop key public health policies firmly rooted in scientific evidence that promote access to prevention and early detection services, treatment and follow-up care. ACS CAN uses our expert lobbying, policy, grassroots and communications capacity to advance evidence-based solutions that reduce death and suffering from cancer.

Influence

Like the American Cancer Society, ACS CAN is an evidence-based organization. ACS CAN is looked to in the public health community as a leader, engaging scientists, researchers, medical providers, advocates and patients to influence critical public health policies important to our cancer mission.

ACS CAN is strictly nonpartisan and does not endorse, oppose or contribute to candidates or political parties. As a result, we are considered a trusted source of health policy information by legislators, policymakers and opinion leaders. The only side ACS CAN takes is the side of cancer patients.

2018 Impact



when 4 states increased access to Medicaid.

ACS CAN helped secure more than \$5.9 billion in appropriations

at the state and local level.



33,000 Lights of HOPE

illuminated the reflecting pool in front of the Lincoln Memorial as part of ACS CAN's Leadership Summit & Lobby Day.

Convincing legislators to join our cancer fight through cosponsorship, ACS CAN advocated for



3 of the top 5 bills

with the most cosponsors in the 115th Congress.





public policy forums

across the country highlighted the importance of cancer research, access to care and patient quality of life. Congress approved a \$5 billion increase in medical research funding at the National Institutes of Health,

including \$465 million for the National Cancer Institute, well exceeding ACS CAN's One Degree campaign goal.



ACS CAN helped secure and protect more than

\$218 million



in state funding for tobacco prevention and cessation programs. **3,700** ACS CAN volunteers and staff attended Day at the Capitol events across the country.

More than

11 of the 15

ballot measures that ACS CAN supported throughout 2018, resulting in expanded access to health insurance for low-income Americans and stronger tobacco control policies.

2018 Advocacy Accomplishments

This report includes key accomplishments from 2018. However, it is not an exhaustive list of all of the advocacy work that ACS CAN staff and volunteers did across the country. For more information on ACS CAN's advocacy efforts, visit our website at **fightcancer.org**.

Sustained Investments in Cancer Research

Cancer research is essential to saving lives and making continued advancements against the disease. Without consistent increases in federal research funding, new treatments and tests may not reach cancer patients who need them most. Because 1 in 3 Americans will be diagnosed with cancer in their lifetime, it's critical to continue the progress in treating cancer with strong, sustained investments in federal funding for cancer research.

One Degree Goal Achieved

Three years ago, ACS CAN recognized the need to bring all members of Congress together to prioritize federal investment in research. To accomplish that task, we launched our One Degree Campaign, with the message that everyone is one degree from cancer, whether you know a loved one, friend or coworker who has fought the disease, or you have received a diagnosis yourself. The campaign aimed to change the current landscape for federal research funding by calling on Congress to increase their investment in the National Institutes of Health (NIH) by \$6 billion, including \$1 billion at the National Cancer Institute (NCI).

After three years of dedicated advocacy and hard work by our volunteers, that ambitious goal was achieved. On March 23, 2018, Congress passed the fiscal year 2018 (FY18) federal budget, which included a \$3 billion increase for medical research at the NIH (the largest such funding increase in 15 years); a \$275 million increase for the NCI; a \$10 million increase for cancer prevention programs at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and first-time funding of \$15 million for the Oncology Center of Excellence at the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The budget also increased funding for the CDC Office of Smoking and Health and preserved the FDA's full regulatory authority over tobacco products.

Combined with growth in funding over the past several years, this most recent increase made our One Degree Campaign goal a reality and ensures that cancer researchers will have the resources they need to maintain momentum on research breakthroughs. This is a tremendous accomplishment for the cancer community, one in which ACS CAN volunteers played an integral role by communicating to their lawmakers about the importance of sustained funding for cancer research.

One Voice Against Cancer

In May 2018, ACS CAN led the 19th annual One Voice Against Cancer (OVAC) Lobby Day, which brought more than 100 cancer patients, survivors, caregivers, physicians and researchers representing over 50 cancer organizations and 31 states together on Capitol Hill. ACS CAN is the founder and leading member of OVAC. Our volunteers and staff joined other advocates in urging federal legislators to support a robust and sustained federal investment in research at the NCI and the NIH, as well as preserve cancer prevention funding at the CDC.

On Capitol Hill, volunteers shared results of a poll commissioned by OVAC. The poll found that nearly 70 percent of voters favor continued significant budget increases for the NIH and that 73 percent of respondents supported Congress's decision to increase NIH funding by \$3 billion in the FY18 omnibus bill (a bill that packages several appropriations bills into one larger piece of legislation). Additionally, 68 percent of all voters oppose significant proposed budget cuts to the NIH, and 60 percent of respondents say Congress should continue to increase investments in medical research, even in light of increasing national debt.

Investment at All Levels of Government

Throughout 2018, ACS CAN continued to advocate for sustained investments in cancer research. In September, Congress passed H.R. 6157, a bill that combined funding for the Departments of Defense, Labor, Health and Human Services and Education for fiscal year 2019 (FY19). The bill received strong bipartisan support in both the House and the Senate, with influential leaders in both chambers working together to prioritize cancer research and prevention. The bill was signed into law in late September, and featured several key funding increases, including:

- A \$2 billion funding increase for the NIH
- A \$190 million funding boost for the NCI
- An additional \$2 million for cancer registries to help track pediatric cancer cases as part of the Childhood Cancer Survivorship, Treatment, Access and Research (STAR) Act
- A \$1 million funding increase for ovarian cancer programs at the CDC, along with \$875,000 for skin cancer programs

• Preservation of funding levels for CDC cancer screening and early detection programs and programs at the Office on Smoking and Health

ACS CAN volunteers and staff continue to advocate for cancer research funding at the state level as well. **Kentucky** volunteers fought hard to secure \$5 million in new funding dedicated to pediatric cancer research. In **Iowa**, we worked with key partners to help secure a \$150,000 funding increase for melanoma research at the University of Iowa. The **New Jersey** team advocated to restore \$2 million in cancer research funding after it was eliminated from the state budget. **Alabama** increased state investment in research funding by \$265,000 in 2018, and ACS CAN continued its advocacy for sustained investment through the Andy Hill Cancer Research Endowment Fund in **Washington**.

Childhood Cancer Research

ACS CAN has prioritized investment in childhood cancer research and program support through active engagement as a leader with the childhood cancer community to advance issues of critical importance on behalf of pediatric cancer. In January 2018, Congress included funding to reauthorize the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) for six years as part of a short-term extension in the FY18 spending bill. In doing so, Congress prioritized access to quality, affordable and comprehensive health care coverage to nearly 9 million

Focusing on Opportunities, Challenges of Cancer Research

One Voice Against Cancer (OVAC) hosted a congressional briefing in October on Capitol Hill titled "On the Horizon: Opportunities & Challenges in Cancer Research." The briefing featured Dr. Ned Sharpless, director of the National Cancer Institute (NCI) and ACS CAN Maryland ACT Lead Brittany Avin, a cancer survivor and PhD student at Johns Hopkins University. Caroline Powers, ACS CAN director of Federal Relations, served as moderator at this well-attended event.



Brittany Avin, an ACS CAN Maryland ACT Lead and cancer survivor, presented at the OVAC briefing.

low-income children, some of whom have been affected by cancer. The CHIP program is an integral part of the safety net for lower-income children and their families who depend on care through the program. ACS CAN urged Congress to approve funding for the CHIP program to ensure low-income childhood cancer patients have access to preventive and treatment services. Additionally, the short-term extension in the FY18 spending bill also included two years of funding for Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs), which provide access to primary care and cancer prevention services for millions of low-income families and children.

In April 2018, ACS CAN joined forces with the Alliance for Childhood Cancer for its 7th annual Childhood Cancer Action Day on Capitol Hill. ACS CAN volunteers were among the more than 230 participants who met with members of Congress and their staff to support the passage of the STAR Act. The most comprehensive childhood cancer bill ever passed by Congress, the act increases funding for childhood cancer research, improves data collection so pediatric oncologists can better learn from one another and expands research on the long-term effects of childhood cancer treatments.

The STAR Act is the most comprehensive childhood cancer bill ever passed by Congress.

Volunteers of all ages and backgrounds shared their stories with lawmakers, urging them to make pediatric cancer research a priority issue in Congress. In total, participants engaged in 175 meetings during their day on the Hill. Just one month after Childhood Cancer Action Day, the STAR Act was unanimously passed by the House of Representatives, having received unanimous support earlier in the year in the Senate, and was signed into law in September. ACS CAN volunteers continue to advocate to ensure the STAR Act is appropriately funded through the next several years.

Prevention and Early Detection

Breast and Cervical Cancer Prevention and Early Detection

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) is critical in increasing access to and awareness of potentially lifesaving cancer screenings for breast and cervical cancer for low-income, uninsured and underinsured women. Protecting funding for the NBCCEDP remains a top priority for ACS CAN, as maintaining adequate funding at both the state and federal levels is vital to ensuring women have access to cancer screening, as well as diagnostic and treatment services.

ACS CAN volunteers and staff continue to make an impact in protecting and increasing state funding for breast and cervical cancer early detection programs. From fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2018, funding for the **Tennessee** Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening Program increased by over \$940,000, and **Massachusetts** secured an additional \$500,000 in funding for the state BCCEDP compared to the previous year. The breast and cervical cancer screening programs in Alabama and Vermont also saw funding increases in 2018. The Florida legislature approved state funding of \$1.83 million for the Mary Brogan Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program, marking the seventh year in a row state funds were invested in the program. Funding for **Oregon's** Breast and Cervical Cancer Program was approved at over \$691 million, a significant increase from the previous year. Twenty-four states - Alaska, Arkansas, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Illinois, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Missouri, Nebraska, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Virginia, West Virginia and Wisconsin convinced lawmakers to maintain or protect funding for breast and/or cervical cancer screening programs.

States took steps to reduce barriers to screening and prevention programs for cervical cancer. State funding in

Connecticut will provide access to the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine for all 11- and 12-year-olds. **New York City** secured \$252,0000 in city funding to support an HPV education campaign for parents and health care providers, and **Illinois** lawmakers updated legislation to ensure that the Department of Public Health provides both male and female students and their parents and guardians with information about the availability of the HPV vaccine.

Colorectal Cancer Prevention

Nearly all colorectal cancers are preventable or treatable when detected at an early stage. However, out-ofpocket costs create financial barriers that discourage the use of recommended screening services, particularly for Medicare beneficiaries. The Removing Barriers to Colorectal Cancer Screening Act (H.R. 1017/S.479) continued to gain momentum in the 115th Congress. Currently, if a polyp is found and removed during a screening colonoscopy, Medicare patients can wake up to a surprise bill of as much as \$350, as the procedure is reclassified as a diagnostic procedure. Polyp removal is considered preventive, and those with private insurance receive the service free of charge. This legislation would fix the loophole in Medicare and remove this cost-sharing requirement for screening colonoscopies.



The ACS CAN **North Dakota** team met with Governor Doug Burgum as he proclaimed March 2018 Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month.

ACS CAN worked with champions in the House of Representatives – Leonard Lance (R-NJ) and Donald M. Payne Jr. (D-NJ) – and in the Senate – Sherrod Brown (D-OH) and Roger Wicker (R-MS) – to garner support for the legislation. With over 60 Senate cosponsors and over 300 cosponsors in the House, a wide bipartisan majority of Congress supports closing the colorectal cancer screening loophole in Medicare.

Following a guidelines update by the American Cancer Society in May 2018 that recommends testing begin at age 45 for people at average risk of colorectal cancer instead of starting at age 50, ACS CAN joined 22 public health and patient advocacy groups in requesting that the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) reconsider

Examining U.S. Cancer Disparities

In October 2018, ACS CAN released *Cancer Disparities: A Chartbook*, illustrating the scope of cancer disparities that exist in the U.S., including cancer incidence, mortality and survival rates. The report finds that while non-Hispanic white females have higher incidence rates for breast cancer, non-Hispanic black females have higher mortality rates. The chartbook will serve as a valuable tool for policymakers and advocates as they evaluate policies to address gaps in health outcomes and better prevent, detect and cure cancers that disproportionately affect medically underserved populations.

Cancer Disparities: A Chartbook



its 2016 colorectal cancer screening recommendation before its currently scheduled review in 2021. The American Cancer Society's updated guidelines are based on recent data showing increasing rates of colorectal cancer in younger populations. The national health care law references USPSTF screening guidelines for insurance coverage requirements, and the letter stressed the importance of expanding insurance coverage for screening for the 45-49 age group. We are pleased to report that the USPSTF will grant an off-cycle review and reconsider its colorectal cancer screening recommendation in 2019.

Reducing barriers to colorectal cancer screening is also a priority for ACS CAN at the state level. The University of **South Carolina** Center for Colon Cancer Prevention Network maintained its state funding for its colorectal cancer screening program. The **Arkansas** Minority Health Commission's appropriation included \$850,000 to increase colon cancer awareness and screening.

Skin Cancer Prevention

Skin cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in the U.S., resulting in more than 11,000 deaths per year. One of the most avoidable risks of skin cancer is exposure to ultraviolet (UV) radiation, yet 1 in 9 high school girls has used an indoor tanning device. ACS CAN advocates for laws restricting the use of indoor tanning devices for those under 18 years of age to reduce this increased risk of skin cancer. The science shows that this policy intervention reduces this risk by



In **New York**, ACS CAN volunteers supported a law restricting the use of indoor tanning devices by minors.

as much as 59 percent of melanoma cases, 67 percent of squamous cell carcinoma cases and 29 percent of basal cell carcinoma cases. In 2018, **New York** and **Rhode Island** passed laws restricting minors from using indoor tanning devices, with no exceptions. In **Maryland**, Charles County passed legislation prohibiting the use of indoor tanning devices by minors.

Healthy Eating and Active Living Environments

For people who don't use tobacco, the greatest behavioral risk factors for cancer are diet, levels of physical activity, amount of alcohol consumption and weight. ACS CAN works with policymakers to lower these cancer risks by making information more accessible for healthy choices and building healthy communities and schools.

lowa increased funding for childhood obesity programs by \$300,000 in 2018, which more than doubled the programs' capacity from 2017 to offer grants to communities to address, decrease and prevent childhood obesity. **New York City** maintained \$380 million in funding to expand physical education facilities in city schools.

Michigan expanded an initiative that provides incentive funding, up to 10 cents per meal, to encourage schools to offer local fresh fruits and vegetables. In **North Carolina**, ACS CAN successfully secured the continuation of the Healthy Corner Store Initiative, which provides grants in areas with high poverty and high mortality rates to offer greater healthy food accessibility. Beginning in the next school year, high-needs schools in **Washington** will offer Breakfast After the Bell programs.

Improving Quality of Life for Cancer Patients

Cancer patients and survivors deserve the best quality of life possible, and ACS CAN works with federal and state lawmakers to support policies that expand access to and understanding of palliative care to help prevent and relieve pain and suffering. A team of specialists coordinates with the patient's oncology team to offer an extra layer of support and personalized care that addresses pain and symptoms that are often associated with cancer treatment. Palliative care is appropriate at any age and any stage of a cancer journey, beginning at diagnosis and continuing through survivorship. It focuses on treating the whole patient as well as the disease, ultimately improving health outcomes and reducing health care spending.

At the federal level, the Palliative Care and Hospice Education and Training Act (PCHETA) saw significant progress in both the House of Representatives and the Senate in the 115th Congress. When passed, PCHETA will increase funding at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) for federal research of palliative care, including symptom and pain management; ensure doctors, nurses and other health professionals are properly trained and educated in palliative care and create a national campaign to educate patients and families on the benefits of palliative care.

ACS CAN is the founder and a leading member of the Patient Quality of Life Coalition (PQLC), a coalition of more than 40 patient, provider and health system organizations with the shared goal of advocating for patients and families facing serious illnesses. In addition to the meetings held during our Leadership Summit & Lobby Day during which ACS CAN volunteers spoke with lawmakers about the importance of PCHETA, ACS CAN also participated in PQLC's fifth annual Capitol Hill Lobby Day. Seventy volunteers from across the country visited over 100 congressional offices, where they spoke directly to members of Congress and their staff to garner support for PCHETA.

ACS CAN volunteers and staff were also busy contacting key lawmakers back home, dropping by their district offices with important information about this legislation including copies of ACS CAN's palliative care advertising campaign. Recognizing that the opportunity to connect with lawmakers is essential to PCHETA's progress, volunteers and staff secured critical media coverage through interviews and letters to the editor and executed a social media day of action, which resulted in 1,307 tweets in a single day urging action from



South Carolina ACT Leads Cassie Odahowski (middle) and Jeff Criminger (right) held a successful meeting with a staff member from Representative Joe Wilson's office during Leadership Summit & Lobby Day.

the U.S. Senate Health, Education, Labor and Pensions (HELP) committee leadership. After the social media effort and a key television interview in his home state of **Tennessee**, U.S. Senate Committee HELP Chairman Senator Lamar Alexander's office requested a meeting with ACS CAN to discuss opportunities to make progress on the bill in the Senate.

Thanks in part to the efforts of ACS CAN and PQLC volunteers, the House unanimously passed PCHETA in July 2018 with over 280 bipartisan cosponsors. The Senate concluded its 115th session with 56 PCHETA cosponsors. ACS CAN will work to get this legislation over the finish line in the 116th Congress by continuing to call on all lawmakers to pass PCHETA and significantly improve quality of life for millions of cancer patients and survivors.

At the state level, ACS CAN has created model legislation that establishes a Palliative Care Advisory Council comprised of state experts that encourages the state health department to provide palliative care information to medical professionals, patients and caregivers and improves access to palliative care services. ACS CAN was instrumental in state-level palliative care legislative advances in 2018, with **Kansas**, **Ohio**, **Tennessee**, **South Carolina** and **West Virginia** passing ACS CAN's model quality of life legislation, bringing the total to 23 states plus the District of Columbia. **Hawaii** passed a model quality of life resolution, set to become law in 2019.

Maintaining Access to Pain Treatment

In 2018, lawmakers in Congress and state capitols nationwide introduced a flood of legislation aimed at addressing opioid abuse and misuse across the country. ACS CAN shares the goal of ensuring safe and appropriate use of opioids; however, it is critical that these policies do not cause unintended consequences for cancer patients and survivors who rely on prescription medication to alleviate legitimate pain needs both during and after active cancer treatment. ACS CAN advocates for policies, legislation and regulations that take a reasonable, balanced approach to addressing the opioid epidemic while maintaining access to pain medication for individuals with cancer and other serious illnesses who need them to maintain quality of life.

Members of Congress worked for several months to pass a bipartisan, comprehensive legislative package to address the country's opioid crisis. ACS CAN engaged in policy discussions throughout the process to ensure that the final legislation offered a balanced approach and that legislators heard the cancer patient perspective. As Congress considered proposals to address opioid abuse, ACS CAN and PQLC released data showing that in the past two years – since the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) finalized new opioid-prescribing guidelines – cancer patients, survivors and others suffering from chronic illnesses have experienced greater difficulty accessing their pain medication. After considering more than 100 proposals, both the House and the Senate passed a bipartisan comprehensive bill – the Substance Use-Disorder Prevention that Promotes Opioid Recovery and Treatment (SUPPORT) for Patients and Communities Act, which was signed into law in October 2018.

ACS CAN's advocacy efforts influenced the final legislation into a more balanced package. The SUPPORT Act includes federal support of state-run prescription drug monitoring programs, funding for innovative research on pain treatment and safe disposal of unused opioid medications by medical professionals and hospice workers. The law also includes an important provision that requires the Department of Health and Human Services, in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Justice, to conduct a study on the effects of federal and state opioid prescribing limits on patients.

Assessing States' Pain Policies

In 2018, ACS CAN, the American Cancer Society and the University of Wisconsin released *Achieving Balance in State Pain Policy: A Report Card*. Using new methodology that reflects current trends in opiod and pain policy, the report evaluates state public policies related to pain management. From 2015 to 2018, the number of state legislative



Achieving Balance in State Pain Policy A Report Card



proposals related to pain management and opioid issues rose from fewer than 80 proposals to more than 470 – a six-fold increase. Currently, only six states have passed balanced pain policies that preserve legitimate access to pain management for cancer patients and survivors while helping combat opioid abuse. The report features recent ACS CAN research showing that 48 percent of cancer patients surveyed were told by their doctors that their pain treatment options were limited by laws, guidelines or insurance coverage. Additionally, 30 percent of cancer patients and survivors surveyed reported being unable to get their prescription pain treatment because their insurance would not cover it, a 19 percent increase from 2016. The report details how ACS CAN works with federal and state government leaders to institute balanced pain policies that do not harm cancer patients and survivors, and highlights examples of model balanced policies that ensure access to legitimate treatment.



Addressing Health Disparities in Massachusetts

With the passage of the 2019 state budget, a decade-long partnership between ACS CAN and the Disparities Action network resulted in the creation of the **Massachusetts** Office of Health Equity. Included in the budget was a policy provision seeking to reduce racial and ethnic health disparities across the state, an essential step toward improving health outcomes for all individuals.

ACS CAN is pleased this provision was included in the final legislation, as nearly half of cancer patients and more than half of those with a serious illness have experienced barriers to accessing much-needed pain treatment due to changes to prescribing requirements.

ACS CAN was also able to advocate for exemptions for those receiving hospice or palliative care or cancer treatment, and will monitor implementation of these policy changes across the country.

Medication Synchronization

Allowing pharmacists to coordinate all of a patient's maintenance prescription medications so they are filled on the same date every month can promote better patient outcomes by enhancing patient access. This coordination also provides greater pharmacist oversight and improves patient adherence to their medication regimen. ACS CAN successfully advocated for the passage of medication synchronization legislation in **Hawaii** and **New Hampshire**.

Increasing Access to Health Coverage

Research studies by the American Cancer Society show that people without health insurance are more likely than those with health coverage to be diagnosed with cancer at advanced stages when the disease is deadlier and more expensive to treat. ACS CAN strongly advocates for maintaining cancer patients' access to quality, affordable health insurance coverage, and continues to urge lawmakers to improve current protections for patients at both the state and federal level.

Preserving Patient Protections

Twenty states led by the Texas attorney general filed a lawsuit, *Texas v. United States*, challenging the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in federal court in Texas by arguing that because Congress repealed the individual mandate's tax penalty as part of tax reform legislation passed at the end of 2017, the entire law is invalid and must be struck down.

In June 2018, ACS CAN led five other patient groups representing millions of Americans with pre-existing conditions to file an *amicus curiae*, or "friend of the court," brief in the lawsuit, citing the devastating impact patients would face should the court side with plaintiffs and move to invalidate the current health care law.

The groups, which include the American Cancer Society, ACS CAN, the American Diabetes Association, the American Heart Association, the American Lung Association and the National Multiple Sclerosis Society, argue the law was intended to help patients and Congress' decision not to repeal the law without a replacement reinforces that intent.

While several bills and resolutions have been introduced in the House and Senate to provide protections for people with pre-existing conditions should the Texas case ultimately be successful in striking down the health care law, none provide the complete array of protections found in the Affordable Care Act. ACS CAN will continue to advocate that the current health care law stay in place unless an effective replacement that provides equal or better coverage for cancer patients and survivors becomes new law.

Association Health Plans

In June 2018, the Department of Labor issued a final rule governing the creation of association health plans (AHPs). ACS CAN actively opposed this final rule, which would expand access to AHPs, due to the fact that the plans are exempt from current critical benefit and cost-sharing requirements that protect cancer patients. In addition, while the final rule prohibits AHPs from denying coverage based on pre-existing conditions, it does allow such plans to impose different rates based on the age, gender, group size and location of enrollees. These changes could result in discriminatory tactics and could have the same effect as considering someone's health history.

Short-Term Limited-Duration Plans

In February 2018, the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), the Department of Labor and the Department of the Treasury proposed a new rule allowing the extension of short-term limited-duration (STLD) health insurance plans. Under the rule, insurers can issue new short-term plans that can be extended for up to 36 months, compared to the previous maximum duration of three months. These new, expanded short-term plans can deny or charge people more for coverage based on their health status, such as cancer, and are exempt from covering essential health services, like prescription drugs or hospitalization. The new plans can also charge older people more than three times what they charge a younger person for the same coverage.

ACS CAN strongly opposed this rule and joined with other patient advocacy organizations in asking the

administration to rescind it. Despite these efforts, the rule was finalized on August 1, 2018.

A lawsuit was filed in September 2018 in federal court to stop the rule. ACS CAN, along with 11 other patient advocacy organizations, filed an amicus curiae brief in support of the court challenge. The brief explained the devastating impact patients could face under the final rule implementing changes to STLD insurance plans, arguing that allowing expanded access to these plans will destabilize the insurance market by attracting younger and healthier people to these lower-cost barebones plans while forcing those who need comprehensive coverage to pay more in premiums or be unable to obtain insurance entirely. The brief also provided the court with scientific data linking health insurance status with medical outcomes. The American Cancer Society and ACS CAN led the American Heart Association, the American Lung Association, the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, the Epilepsy Foundation, the Global Healthy Living Foundation, the Hemophilia Federation of America, the Leukemia and Lymphoma Society, the March of Dimes, the National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship and the National Multiple Sclerosis Society in drafting and filing the brief.

ACS CAN also led efforts at the state level to curtail the extension of STLD insurance plans. When the **Virginia** legislature passed legislation to extend short-term plans up to 364 days, ACS CAN volunteers sent more than 130 emails to the governor detailing the negative impact the plans could have on cancer patients; the governor ultimately vetoed the legislation.

> Research shows that people without health insurance are more likely than those with health coverage to be diagnosed with cancer at advanced stages.

Funding for Patient Navigators

On July 10, 2018, the administration announced plans to eliminate most funding for "navigators," or organizations that assist Americans in accessing health coverage through the individual insurance exchanges, reducing funding from \$36.8 million to \$10 million. The proposal also urged navigators to promote short-term health plans and association health plans, which do not offer protections for people with pre-existing conditions like cancer. This action jeopardizes access to affordable, adequate health insurance coverage for people with cancer and other serious and chronic conditions.

On July 23, 2018, ACS CAN joined 189 patient, consumer and provider organizations in a letter urging the administration to restore this funding, noting that the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) has cut funding for outreach and enrollment activities by more than 80 percent since 2016, making it harder for many to access coverage, and contributing to the destabilization of insurance markets, which results in higher premiums for many enrollees. Access to information about coverage options and costs obtained through outreach and navigators positively impacts enrollment and helps families select a plan that meets their health care needs.

Prescription Drug Affordability

Early in 2018, the administration released its plan to lower prescription drug prices and costs for patients called American Patients First: The Trump Administration Blueprint to Lower Drug Prices and Reduce Out-of-Pocket Costs (Blueprint). In response, ACS CAN submitted comments urging HHS to adopt policies that would ensure that individuals continue to have access to medically necessary drugs. ACS CAN expressed concerns about the administration's proposal to move some drugs that are currently covered under the Medicare Part B program (physician-administered drugs) to the Medicare Part D program (outpatient drugs), which could result in increased out-of-pocket costs for many beneficiaries who would likely face higher premiums and co-insurance to access their medications.



Heather Hall, three-time cancer survivor and **Michigan** ACT Lead, advocated at the state capitol for legislation that would equalize out-of-pocket costs for oral and intravenous chemotherapy.

ACS CAN also voiced concerns regarding the administration's suggested changes to Medicare Part D's six categories of clinical concern, commonly referred to as "six protected classes." In their current form, the proposed changes – including excluding drugs from formularies – as well as allowing greater use of prior authorization and a utilization management strategy known as step therapy – could impede many beneficiaries' access to their medication. If beneficiaries are unable to access the prescription drugs that are the most medically appropriate for their condition, they will likely incur higher costs such as additional physician services or emergency room utilization.

The Blueprint also outlined proposals that could be very beneficial to cancer patients, including capping Medicare Part D out-of-pocket costs, a patient protection that currently exists for many individuals who are enrolled in private insurance.

After the release of the Blueprint, the administration announced that it would allow Medicare Advantage plans to implement step therapy for physician-administered drugs. The use of step therapy could negatively impact patients who rely on drug therapies to treat their diseases, maintain their quality of life, prevent comorbidities and often prevent recurrence or progression of their disease. For many of these patients, there are few drug therapies available to treat their specific conditions. Therefore, asking these patients to take a drug that is not designed to treat their specific health circumstances could negatively impact care.



Focusing on Access to Care, Drug Affordability

In response to American Patients First: The Trump Administration Blueprint to Lower Drug Prices and Reduce Out-of-Pocket Costs (Blueprint), ACS CAN launched a new advertising campaign to position the topic of access to care and drug affordability through the cancer lens; specifically, highlighting the Blueprint's proposal to cap out-of-pocket costs for beneficiaries in Medicare Part D. The campaign ran in Washington, D.C., media outlets including *The Washington Post, The Hill, The New York Times* and CNN, targeting members of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and urging HHS Secretary Alex Azar and Congress to cap out-of-pocket costs in Medicare Part D.

In response to this announcement, ACS CAN, along with 90 organizations that represent Americans living with serious chronic conditions, sent a letter to HHS Secretary Alex Azar urging him to protect vulnerable patient populations as the administration moves forward with the implementation of this policy. The letter raised specific concerns about the use of step therapy and outlined patient protections that should accompany the policy, such as requiring step therapy protocols to follow clinical practice guidelines and best practices; protection for midtreatment patients; and full transparency and oversight.

ACS CAN met with Secretary Azar to discuss the decision to allow Medicare Advantage plans to use step therapy. We advised the secretary to put in place "guardrails" for the step therapy program to ensure that beneficiaries are protected from unintended problems that could potentially arise from the decision.

Increasing Access to Medicaid

Expanding access to care through Medicaid under current health care law represents a key opportunity for states to use federal funds to help disabled and low-income Americans access health coverage. The ability to eliminate health and cancer disparities is dependent on providing people with comprehensive health coverage that is affordable regardless of income level. In April 2018, the American Cancer Society announced a partnership with the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF), the nation's largest philanthropic organization focused on health, to address issues critical to the fight against cancer. As part of the broader partnership, RWJF is providing an 18-month grant to the American Cancer Society so that the organization, in collaboration with ACS CAN, may develop and execute a research-based, multimedia public education campaign to illustrate the critical role the Medicaid program has in providing lowincome Americans access to comprehensive, affordable health coverage.

In June 2018, **Virginia** became the 33rd state, in addition to Washington, D.C., to increase access to health coverage through Medicaid, resulting in an estimated 400,000 lowincome Virginians having access to affordable health insurance. Additionally, during the 2018 midterm elections, voters in **Idaho**, **Nebraska** and **Utah** approved ballot measures to increase access to health coverage through Medicaid. Across these three states, people will gain access to affordable, quality health care including potentially lifesaving screenings. Leading up to the elections, ACS CAN advocates worked hard to educate voters about the importance of expanding access to affordable health care for cancer patients. An increasing number of states have sought flexibility in administering the Medicaid program by using the 1115 Research and Demonstration Waivers. ACS CAN evaluates these waivers to determine their impact on cancer patients' and survivors' access to preventive services and treatment, as many waivers include provisions that could adversely affect enrollees, such as work requirements that limit or restrict eligibility. In 2018, we successfully defeated the implementation of work requirements for Medicaid beneficiaries in **Colorado**, **Louisiana**, **Minnesota** and **Pennsylvania** based upon the impact these requirements would have on a cancer patient's ability to comply, thus putting their access to care at risk.

ACS CAN worked to reduce barriers to care for cancer patients and Medicaid enrollees in **Puerto Rico** after the island suffered through Hurricane Maria in late 2017. We successfully advocated for \$4.9 billion to increase the funding cap for Puerto Rico's Medicaid program for two years and secured a waiver for the requirement for the territory to produce matching dollars for the program.

Biosimilars

The development of biologic drugs has enhanced access to improved treatment options for cancer patients. In 2010, the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act was passed as part of the Affordable Care Act and created an abbreviated approval pathway for developers to create copies of biologic drugs once they are no longer subject to patent restrictions. These copies, or biosimilars, produce the same clinical result as the original biologic drug and have the potential to result in lower cost burdens for cancer patients by increasing price competition.

In 2018, ACS CAN developed materials to educate cancer patients, lawmakers and advocates on the benefits of biosimilars and our continued work to increase access to treatment options. At the state level, ACS CAN works to ensure patient safety and education by passing biosimilar legislation that requires both provider and patient notification of any substitution, along with entry into the patient's official medical record, within five business days. Six states – **Alaska**, **Connecticut**, **New Hampshire**, **South Dakota**, **Wisconsin** and **Wyoming** – passed biosimilars substitution legislation in 2018, bringing the total to 42 states.

Oral Chemotherapy Fairness

ACS CAN supports legislation at the state level that requires health plans to cover oral chemotherapy medication at a cost to patients that would be no greater than they would pay for intravenous chemotherapy. A bill in **California** removed the sunset provision – which renders legislation ineffective after a specific date – for a law that equalizes out-of-pocket costs for oral chemotherapy and intravenous chemotherapy, protecting cancer patients' access to affordable treatment.

Reducing Tobacco's Toll

Tobacco continues to represent a significant burden on our nation's health. Almost one-third (28.8%) of cancer deaths in the U.S. are still caused by smoking, and tobacco use remains the leading cause of preventable death nationwide. ACS CAN works at the federal, state and local levels to pass strong tobacco control legislation that reduces exposure to secondhand smoke, encourages current tobacco users to quit and prevents people, especially youth, from starting to use tobacco.

Almost one-third of cancer deaths in the U.S. are still caused by smoking.

FDA Regulation of Tobacco Products

In September 2018, the FDA acknowledged that youth use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) has "reached an epidemic proportion," and gave several leading electronic cigarette manufacturers 60 days to produce a plan to reduce youth sales. Rather than relying on e-cigarette manufacturers to self-regulate, ACS CAN urged the FDA to exercise its full regulatory authority over tobacco products by requiring premarket review of all new tobacco products and to prohibit the sale of all flavored tobacco products, including e-cigarettes, unless those products undergo full premarket review (see Premarket Review of Tobacco Products section).

FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb formally announced intentions in November 2018 to prohibit menthol flavoring in combustible cigarettes and flavors in cigars, and to restrict the sale of some flavored electronic cigarettes. ACS CAN commended the FDA for advancing plans to reduce the attractiveness of menthol cigarettes and flavored cigars to youth. However, we called on the FDA to exercise its full authority over tobacco products by conducting full premarket review of e-cigarettes and cigars, not just implementing partial sales restrictions as an attempt to curb youth tobacco use.

Earlier in 2018, the FDA issued an advance notice of proposed rulemaking aimed at reducing nicotine levels in cigarettes to levels that no longer cause or sustain addiction. While ACS CAN applauded the FDA's deliberate action to address tobacco addiction, we strongly



During dozens of Day at the Capitol events in 2018, ACS CAN volunteers advocated for policies that reduce youth consumption of tobacco, including raising the minimum age of sale of tobacco products to 21 and restricting the sale of flavored tobacco.

advocated that maximum nicotine limits be set for all combustible tobacco products, not just cigarettes.

ACS CAN worked to keep Congress from passing provisions that would exempt many cigars from FDA regulation, including some that are cheap and flavored and attractive to youth, as well as opposing provisions that would allow many cigar and e-cigarette products to remain on the market without a critical FDA public health review required by current law.

Public Health Victory in Graphic Warnings Lawsuit

A lawsuit filed by the American Cancer Society, ACS CAN and other public health partners in 2016 resulted in a major victory in September 2018 when a federal court ordered the FDA to issue a final rule requiring graphic health warnings on cigarette packaging and advertising. The lawsuit alleged the agency had failed to comply with the Tobacco Control Act, in which Congress mandated the FDA to require such warnings. The judge ruled in favor of the groups, finding that the FDA has both "unlawfully withheld" and "unreasonably delayed" agency action on the graphic warnings.

The FDA has indicated it will not appeal the decision, but said it needs over two years for completion of outstanding studies, publication of the proposed rule for public comment, review of the comments and issuance of final graphic warnings rule. The public health groups maintain it should be finished by January 2020. ACS CAN, the American Cancer Society, the American Academy of Pediatrics and its Massachusetts chapter, the American Heart Association, the American Lung Association, the Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids, Truth Initiative and several individual pediatricians all joined the action.

Premarket Review of Tobacco Products

ACS CAN, along with other public health and medical groups and several individual pediatricians, filed a lawsuit against the FDA in late March 2018 challenging the agency's decision to allow e-cigarettes and cigars – including candy-flavored products that appeal to children – to stay on the market for years without being reviewed by the agency. The litigation was brought by ACS CAN, the American Academy of Pediatrics and its Maryland chapter, the American Heart Association, the American Lung Association, the Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids, Truth Initiative and five individual pediatricians in response to an FDA announcement in August 2017 indicating the agency would delay key provisions of a new rule (known as the "deeming rule") that extends its jurisdiction to e-cigarettes, cigars and other previously unregulated tobacco products. Specifically, the FDA delayed the provision that required manufacturers of products then on the market to provide critical information to the agency about each product and undergo an FDA review of the product's impact on public health, including whether it appeals to youth before it can enter the market.

The lawsuit contends that the FDA's decision leaves tobacco products on the market that appeal to children and relieves manufacturers of the burden to produce scientific evidence that their products have a public health benefit. The litigation underscores the need for the FDA to review e-cigarettes already on the market in response to evidence the agency itself says demonstrates an epidemic of e-cigarette use by teenagers.

Corrective Statements on the Dangers of Smoking

Tobacco companies are publishing "corrective statements" on their websites and cigarette package "onserts" that tell the American public the truth about their deadly and addictive products. The American Cancer Society and other public health groups are parties along with the U.S. Department of Justice in a decades-long lawsuit against the tobacco industry compelling these statements. Under the court order issued in May 2018, the statements - paid for by the tobacco industry –began appearing on industry websites in June 2018 and on cigarette packages in late November 2018. The statements will remain on industry websites indefinitely and be attached as onserts to cigarette packs for a total of 12 weeks over two years. Corrective statements are an important step in holding the tobacco companies accountable for decades of deception and wrongdoing and ensuring the public knows

the facts about the deadly consequences of smoking and secondhand smoke.

Six public health organizations – the American Cancer Society, the American Heart Association, the American Lung Association, Americans for Nonsmokers' Rights, the National African American Tobacco Prevention Network and the Tobacco-Free Kids Action Fund – joined the case as intervenors in 2005 to ensure that public health interests were effectively presented to the court.

Supporting State Tobacco Control, Prevention and Cessation Programs

Comprehensive, sustained and evidence-based statewide tobacco control programs are proven to reduce tobaccorelated diseases and deaths. ACS CAN plays an important role in efforts to protect and increase state investments in tobacco prevention and cessation programs.

The **Vermont** ACS CAN team collaborated with other public health partners to urge lawmakers to protect a \$1 million increase for the state's tobacco control program. **Illinois** maintained funding for the statewide Quitline, a tobacco cessation program available to all residents regardless of location or socioeconomic status, as well as funding for cessation programs at local health departments. **Massachusetts** allotted an additional \$500,000 in funding for tobacco control programs – bringing the total to the highest funding level for the program since 2010. **Colorado**, **Florida**, **Missouri** and **Pennsylvania** all maintained state funding for tobacco control, prevention and cessation programs in 2018.

Working toward a Smoke-free Nation

Secondhand smoke causes more than 41,000 deaths in the United States each year. ACS CAN works to protect everyone's right to breathe clean air and to protect all workers from the dangers of secondhand smoke. To date, our initiatives to pass smoke-free ordinances have contributed to more than 58 percent of the country's population being protected by state and local laws. ACS CAN volunteers and staff in **Alaska** successfully worked to educate voters who prevented the city and borough of Sitka from opting out of the state's recently passed smoke-free law, ensuring that the entire state is protected from secondhand smoke. We supported comprehensive tobacco-free legislation to make all 10 University of **Hawaii** (UH) campuses tobacco-free, including e-cigarettes. This new law will protect 51,000 UH students, 10,000 faculty and staff and an estimated 450,000 people who visit and spend time at the campuses.

New Jersey expanded its current smoke-free legislation to protect all public beaches and parks. Ten **Texas** localities, in addition to two counties and four municipalities in **Mississippi**, passed comprehensive smoke-free ordinances. Seventeen smoke-free ordinances were either created, strengthened or protected across **California** throughout 2018.

Equally important to establishing smoke-free laws is protecting or strengthening current legislation. ACS CAN advocates in **Michigan** defeated attempts to weaken the state's smoke-free law. The passage of Amendment 9 in **Florida** during the 2018 midterm elections updated the state's Clean Indoor Air Act to include e-cigarettes in the current smoke-free law. Four localities in **Wisconsin** and three in **Montana** added e-cigarettes to existing smokefree legislation. The **Maine** legislature defeated a bill that would have weakened the state's smoke-free law to allow marijuana smoking in certain public places.

Increasing Tobacco Taxes

Research shows that regular and significant increases of taxes on cigarettes and other tobacco products are an effective tool to reduce tobacco use and to save lives. ACS CAN engages with state and local policymakers to pass regular and significant tax increases on all tobacco products, working to save lives and reduce health care costs.

ACS CAN persevered in **Oklahoma** by helping to convince lawmakers to pass a \$1 per pack cigarette tax increase, legislation that is projected to save the state more than \$767 million in long-term health care savings. **Washington, D.C.**, passed a bill to increase the cigarette tax by \$2 per pack, with a portion of the revenue dedicated to tobacco prevention and cessation programs.

In **Colorado**, the towns of Avon and Basalt passed a \$3 per pack and \$2 per pack tax increase, respectively, on cigarettes, as well as a 40 percent retail tax on other tobacco products including e-cigarettes. As part of the fiscal year 2019 budget law enacted in 2018, **Guam** included a \$1 per pack tax increase on cigarettes and other tobacco products.

Protecting Youth from the Dangers of Tobacco

As part of our comprehensive strategy to reduce youth initiation of tobacco use, ACS CAN supports raising the minimum age of sale for all tobacco products to 21, restricting the sale of flavored tobacco products and limiting the quantity and location of tobacco retailers. In **Minnesota** alone in 2018, 19 local ordinances passed across the state to increase the minimum age of sale, along with four counties in **New York**. Hartford, **Connecticut**, was the first city in the state to pass a local ordinance raising the minimum age of sale to 21, and **Massachusetts** became the sixth state in the country to increase the statewide age of sale for tobacco products. In December 2018, **Cincinnati** joined 15 other communities in **Ohio** to pass an ordinance raising the minimum age of sale.



ACS CAN **California** Government Relations Director Cassie Ray and **California** Managing Director Jim Knox educated San Francisco voters as they approved Proposition E, preserving a local ordinance that prohibits the sale of flavored tobacco products, including menthol cigarettes.

California achieved a major public health victory in June 2018 when voters in San Francisco approved Proposition E, an ordinance to prohibit the sale of flavored tobacco products, including menthol cigarettes, by a significant 68 percent to 32 percent margin.

Colorado, **Georgia** and **Illinois** each defeated tobacco industry-sponsored bills that would have allowed for the proliferation of tobacco retailers statewide.

Preemption over Local Public Health Policies

Preemption can serve as an effective tool in public health policy by establishing a minimum standard for local communities to ensure everyone receives equal protection. However, when a higher level of government revokes local authority, preemption can restrict local lawmakers' ability to pass proactive policies. While states can and should set a minimum standard for public health protections, local governments should be able to set policies that go above and beyond the minimum standard.

Preemption bills are a popular strategy among industries like Big Tobacco to prevent future laws that could impact the sale of their products. In **Georgia**, ACS CAN advocates testified to defeat a bill that would have overridden local smoke-free laws and exposed special event workers and participants to secondhand smoke. A similar effort was successful in **West Virginia** in protecting local smoke-free policies by defeating preemption efforts.

Global Advocacy

Cervical cancer kills as many women each year as all causes of maternal mortality – with nearly 90 percent of deaths from cervical cancer occurring in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) – despite being one of the most successfully treatable cancers if detected early. Cervical cancer is preventable with cost-effective interventions, and yet is not addressed in most global health programs. The maternal mortality rate has dropped 44 percent in 25 years thanks to consistent political commitment and sustained funding for maternal health programs, and similar efforts are needed to address cervical cancer. The disease is preventable through cost-effective human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccinations and screenings and preventive treatment of precancerous lesions.

Putting States to the Test

In 2018, ACS CAN released the 16th edition of *How Do You Measure Up?*, which uses a color-coded system to evaluate states in nine specific areas of public policy that can help fight cancer. Green represents the benchmark position, showing that a state has adopted evidence-based policies and best practices; yellow indicates moderate movement toward the benchmark; and red shows where a state is falling short. An annual snapshot of key state policies, the report indicates that as the nation is looking toward more state-driven solutions to address chronic disease prevention and access to health coverage, many states are actually falling behind in these areas. Eighteen states reached



benchmarks in two or fewer of the nine legislative priority areas measured by ACS CAN. Thirty states and the District of Columbia measured up in just three to five of the nine areas. Only two states – **Massachusetts** and **California** – met benchmarks in six or more of the nine categories.

We know how to conquer cervical cancer; prevention programs must be an integral part of comprehensive women's and adolescents' health programs globally.

In the United States, cervical cancer incidence and mortality have declined by more than 50 percent in the past 30 years. This type of success can also be achieved with appropriate strategies in LMICs, demonstrating that a cancer diagnosis in a developing country need not be a fatal diagnosis. According to the World Health Organization, the HPV vaccine is one of the most costeffective cancer prevention methods and a woman can receive lifesaving screening and treatment for as little as \$25.

> In the United States, the cervical cancer incidence and mortality rates have declined by more than 50 percent in the past 30 years.

Progress on Capitol Hill

As part of the FY2018 omnibus appropriations bill, ACS CAN lobbied for Congress to include language directing the United States Agency for International Development to develop a report examining leading causes of morbidity and mortality of women in low-income countries, including cervical cancer. This report will inform future decisionmaking for funding of cervical cancer screening and treatment, as well as HPV vaccination programs. ACS CAN worked with lawmakers in both the House and the Senate to ensure that members understood the importance of this effort going forward.

A Call to Action

Since an early 2018 meeting at which the director general of the World Health Organization called for the global elimination of cervical cancer, ACS CAN has built international and domestic advocacy collaborations to help advance this ambitious but achievable public health goal. In September, we cohosted a panel discussion, Accelerating Global Elimination of Cervical Cancer: A Call to Action, in New York City to discuss ways to accelerate the global elimination of cervical cancer through vaccination, screening and treatment. Cohosted by the American Cancer Society, ACS CAN, the Advanced Medical Technology Association, the Noncommunicable Disease Alliance, TogetHER and the Union for International Cancer Control, the meeting brought together key international and domestic stakeholders, diplomats and public health leaders including U.S. Health and Human Services Deputy Secretary Eric Hargan, who gave remarks, and Burkina Faso's First Lady Sika Bella Kaboré. The event was strategically timed around the United Nations High Level Meeting on Noncommunicable Diseases and served as an opportunity to put the spotlight on a cancer that can be eliminated globally.

Participants engaged in a robust discussion demonstrating the need for a strong cross-sector approach to address cervical cancer, which must include whole-of-government leadership, civil society, the private sector and currently active and successful health programs in the countries with the highest cervical cancer incidence and death rates.

Volunteers and Global Cervical Cancer

Early in 2018, ACS CAN volunteers began outreach to members of Congress, educating them on the global cervical cancer burden and what the U.S. can do to reduce incidence and death in low-income countries. For the first time, volunteers at our Leadership Summit & Lobby Day spoke with members of Congress about the issue; dozens of congressional offices expressed a strong interest in supporting the campaign.



Bringing Leaders Together in the Fight against Cancer

ACS CAN frequently convenes researchers, medical providers, patient advocates and public officials to foster discussion and examine policies that are critical in the fight against cancer. We held our 7th annual National Forum on the Future of Health Care in April 2018 at the National Press Club in Washington, D.C., where leaders from government, private and nonprofit organizations gathered to discuss the barriers that keep willing patients from participating in cancer clinical trials, and how these challenges prevent faster progress in creating better cancer treatments. Speakers, many of whom had contributed to ACS CAN's *Barriers to Patient Enrollment in Therapeutic Clinical Trials for Cancer* landscape report released at the forum, detailed barriers and what could be done to overcome them.

Throughout the country, ACS CAN hosted events to educate the public and elected officials about our work and to raise funds to support our mission. These events brought together thousands of leaders from the business, education, government and research communities and covered a wide variety of topics including cancer research, quality of life, access to care, clinical trials and more.

Examining Access to Clinical Trials

At ACS CAN's annual National Forum on the Future of Health Care in 2018, we released *Barriers to Patient Enrollment in Therapeutic Clinical Trials for Cancer*, a landscape report examining the most common barriers standing in the way of patients enrolling in cancer clinical trials. The report found that only about one in four (27 percent) patients has access to clinical trials where they are being treated; yet, if asked to enroll in an available trial, over half of eligible patients typically agree to do so. The report synthesized existing research on the problem and detailed how barriers occur throughout the clinical trial ecosystem, including providers, institutions, patients and the way in which trials are designed. The report, which is available at **fightcancer.org/clinicaltrialbarriers**, was accompanied by a set of public policy recommendations for reducing barriers in each of these categories as well as suggestions for addressing enrollment disparities.



In addition to convening health policy experts and public officials to focus on key public policy issues important to our mission, ACS CAN collaborates with other public health and advocacy organizations on initiatives important to the cancer community. As a founding member of coalitions including the Patient Quality of Life Coalition (PQLC) and One Voice Against Cancer (OVAC), ACS CAN leads lobby days on Capitol Hill, works jointly to analyze and address policy proposals and cultivates relationships with partners to expand our ability to impact the cancer burden.

Partnerships also help ACS CAN further our goal of building a diverse and inclusive organization that represents communities across America. Since 2014, ACS CAN has collaborated with the Gates Millennium Scholars Program (GMSP), which offers full scholarships to qualified students from the African American, Hispanic/Latino, Native American and Asian Pacific Islander communities. These future leaders are invited to take action with ACS CAN, join us at lobby days at state capitols and collaborate with volunteer ambassador teams throughout the country. For the fifth year in a row, six GMSP scholars joined ACS CAN at our Leadership Summit & Lobby Day, where they attended training breakouts, listened to an array of general session speakers and met with their federal lawmakers on Capitol Hill, alongside our volunteers and staff.

ACS CAN's partnership with Delta Sigma Theta Sorority, Inc. continued in 2018, with ACS CAN advocates joining regional Delta Days at the Capitol events to meet with state lawmakers. In March 2018, we participated in the 29th annual Delta Days in the Nation's Capital and presented an overview of our federal priorities at an advocacy strategy session.

ACS CAN and the American Cancer Society participated as sponsors of the UnidosUS Latino Family Expo at the 50th annual UnidosUS conference in July 2018. UnidosUS is the largest Latino civil rights and advocacy organization in the nation, and ACS CAN volunteers and staff invited members of the Hispanic/Latino community at the conference to share their cancer journeys and learn about issues surrounding access to care and cancer prevention.

At the Congressional Black Caucus Foundation's 48th Annual Legislative Conference, ACS CAN was proud to participate as a sponsor of the Health and Wellness Luncheon: Protecting the Health, Safety and Security of African-American Communities and engage with a panel of health experts on addressing disparities in health outcomes.

ACS CAN partnered with the National African American Tobacco Prevention Network to sponsor in part the State of Black Health National Conference, which convened more than 350 public health professionals, social justice leaders and community advocates in pursuit of health equity for African Americans. This inaugural annual event, which took place in Atlanta, examined the core influences on health including economic, institutional, and social inequalities and developed a cohesive policy platform to address chronic disease and other health challenges in the African American community.



At the 2018 UnidosUS Conference, ACS CAN staff and volunteers invited guests to honor their loved ones affected by cancer on a traditional Dia de Los Muertos ofrenda.

Volunteers: The Heart of ACS CAN

We would not be able to complete our mission without the hundreds of thousands of remarkable individuals across the country who volunteer their time and skills on behalf of those impacted by cancer. Our volunteers are cancer patients, survivors, caregivers, family members and others who have been affected by the disease and are committed to eliminating cancer as a major health problem. They are truly the heart of ACS CAN. As advocates, they engage their elected officials through phone calls, emails, letters and face-to-face meetings. They speak out to their communities, the media and the public at large in support of policies that help save lives from cancer, knowing their voices are the ones that most influence lawmakers and policymakers. ACS CAN prioritizes building a volunteer base that reflects the nation's diverse population.

A major component of our success is a volunteer structure that is sophisticated, innovative and effective. In every congressional district, Ambassador Constituent Team (ACT) Leads work closely with ACS CAN staff partners to develop and implement advocacy campaigns. There are 51 State Lead Ambassadors – one for each state and the District of Columbia – who are ACS CAN's top advocacy volunteers, facilitating ACT activities and providing leadership to other volunteers. Together, this dedicated and powerful volunteer team recruits and supports other volunteers in key elements of successful advocacy campaigns: grassroots mobilization, media outreach, fundraising and integrating advocacy into the American Cancer Society Relay For Life[®], Colleges Against Cancer[®], Coaches vs. Cancer[®] and Making Strides Against Breast Cancer[®] signature programs and events.

ACS CAN's efforts are also supported by the work of attorneys who provide specialized expertise as part of the Judicial Advocacy Initiative (JAI). In 2018, we marked the 10-year anniversary of JAI firms donating their time and services – approximately \$3 million in services to date – to help advance our mission to reduce the cancer burden. In the past two years alone, JAI attorneys have represented ACS CAN as a plaintiff in influential tobacco control court cases and as *amicus curiae* in cases related to health care law. The generosity and commitment of participating JAI firms provide specialized support to our advocacy efforts and have been crucial in our mission of fighting cancer.

Fighting Cancer Together

Together, ACS CAN and the American Cancer Society have a powerful cancer-focused grassroots network. In 2018, ACS CAN's Power of the Purse campaign gave American Cancer Society Making Strides Against

Breast Cancer participants an opportunity to connect the mission of breast cancer education, treatment and research to ACS CAN's priority of federal cancer research and prevention funding. Making Strides participants urged lawmakers to put the Power of the Purse behind cancer research and prevention to help save lives. The results led to thousands of petitions being signed urging lawmakers to take action and over 3,000 new ACS CAN members. ACS CAN also integrated with American Cancer Society Relay For Life events across the country, with an emphasis on cancer research funding. Throughout the year, more than 11,000 people joined ACS CAN through Relay For Life events.



Cancer Votes

Cancer Votes is ACS CAN's nationwide candidate and voter education campaign. It is an opportunity for our organization and volunteers to educate the public and candidates about steps they should take to make cancer policy a national priority. Through Cancer Votes, volunteers across the country work to inform the public by talking to candidates of all political parties about cancer issues and encouraging them to complete questionnaires stating their position on cancer policies. ACS CAN does not advocate for or against the election of particular candidates or political parties or otherwise attempt to influence the outcome of any elections.

In 2018, ACS CAN conducted Cancer Votes work in 12 states, focusing on six high-profile races. Cancer Votes questionnaires were sent to 14 candidates, 12 of whom responded, putting themselves on the record about key policy issues important to our cancer fight.

In two states, California and New Mexico, we focused on priority issues rather than specific races. In both states, we asked candidates to "Snuff Tobacco Money out of state politics" by declining any contributions from tobacco companies. Between the two states, more than 100 candidates accepted the challenge to refuse any tobacco money. Even after candidates had accepted the challenge, ACS CAN staff and volunteers kept an eye on campaign finance reports. When we saw that a candidate who had accepted the challenge received a subsequent donation from Big Tobacco, we asked her to return the money – and she did! ACS CAN volunteers also asked candidates in California to sign the Medi-Cal promise, which urged them to oppose any legislation that would cut Medicaid. At least one candidate signed the Promise in each of the 10 most competitive House seats, including several winners in those races.

ACS CAN sponsored nine candidate debates, and encouraged moderators at 13 separate debates and

forums to ask important questions about cancer health policy. We also organized four "Eat and Greet" events where candidates and their staff were invited to break bread with ACS CAN volunteers and discuss cancer issues.

Volunteers all over the country pressed candidates for their position on important issues, asking them to go on the record about cancer-related policies. Questions for state candidates varied, but federal candidates were asked their positions on cancer research funding, access to health care and funding for global cervical cancer programs.

While much of these Cancer Votes efforts took place on social media, ACS CAN staff and volunteers engaged in an unprecedented number of face-to-face interactions with candidates in 2018. Volunteers spoke personally to seven of the 14 candidates in the selected races, some of them multiple times. Staff and volunteers held in-person meetings with staff and/or candidates in five out of six target races to discuss ACS CAN priorities and the goals of Cancer Votes. These meetings were not only pivotal in our Cancer Votes education success, but also laid the groundwork for closer relationships with soon-to-be legislators and their staff. The newly elected governor of **Minnesota**, Tim Walz, got to know our volunteers so well that he mentioned one of them by name during his health care answer in a televised debate.

Volunteers mailed and displayed Cancer Votes voter guides in neighborhoods to educate voters about cancer issues. In addition to the ones that were mailed or dropped at doors, our voter guides were viewed online more than 18,000 times.

Cancer Votes recruited more than 15,000 new volunteers online in 2018, many of whom signed our petitions asking candidates to protect research funding or access to care. The petitions were delivered to candidates in a number of key states right before Election Day.



Leadership Summit & Lobby Day

ACS CAN's 12th annual Leadership Summit & Lobby Day took place September 23-26, 2018.

Approximately 700 cancer patients, survivors, volunteers and staff from all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Guam and Puerto Rico gathered in Washington, D.C., and urged members of Congress to make cancer a top national priority.

Volunteers participated in nearly 500 congressional meetings, visiting 100 Senate offices and 397 House offices. ACS CAN advocates urged lawmakers to increase funding for research at the National Institutes of Health by at least \$2 billion, support the Palliative Care and Hospice Education Training Act and close a loophole in Medicare that currently results in unexpected out-of-pocket costs for seniors if a polyp is removed during a routine screening colonoscopy. These meetings resulted in 13 new House cosponsors and four new Senate cosponsors for the Removing Barriers to Colorectal Screening Act. Just one day after ACS CAN advocates met with lawmakers, the House of Representatives approved a \$2 billion funding increase for medical research at the National Institutes of Health.

Furthermore, five members from the Coaches vs. Cancer® initiative, a nationwide collaboration between the American Cancer Society and the National Association of Basketball Coaches that empowers coaches, teams and communities to help save more lives from cancer, participated in Leadership Summit & Lobby Day. The 2018 members were Coach John Gallagher of the University of Hartford, Coach Chris Holtmann of Ohio State University, Coach Jeff Jones of Old Dominion University, Coach Steve Donahue of the University of Pennsylvania and former NCAA and NBA coach P.J. Carlesimo. Each coach motivated cancer advocates to share their stories with lawmakers and to be the voice of families affected by this disease. The coaches also participated in media interviews, attended Capitol Hill meetings and shared their personal cancer stories with ACS CAN volunteers.

Leadership Summit & Lobby Day also included the Lights of HOPE ceremony, where 33,000 lights circled the reflecting pool in front of the Lincoln Memorial to represent a loved one impacted by cancer. Celgene was the presenting sponsor of the event. Speakers including Rep. Donald Payne, Jr. (D-PA) and Celgene Chairman and CEO Mark Alles amplified the event theme, "Every bag tells a story," by sharing powerful stories that reflected the hope and determination that motivates so many cancer advocates. The Lights of HOPE event is a critical fundraiser for ACS CAN, raising \$480,000 in 2018 to help save lives from cancer.







#CancerLobbyDay

From thanking lawmakers for meetings and building relationships with their staff to powerful messages about the poignant Lights of HOPE event, social media activity by volunteers, staff, lawmakers and others during the 12th annual Leadership Summit & Lobby Day highlighted the important and exciting work ACS CAN volunteers and staff were doing in Washington, D.C. The event hashtag **#CancerLobbyDay** was shared nearly 3,355 times during the week. As a new feature in 2018, ACS CAN shared videos from volunteers from Ohio, Maine, Illinois and Florida (including videos from a volunteer in English and Spanish), sharing experiences throughout volunteers' day on Capitol Hill. Social media for the Lights of HOPE event was also successful and included a video that gave viewers a look at the ceremony from setup to sundown, and the hashtag #LightsofHope generated 8 million impressions.













2018 Advocacy Award Recipients

ACS CAN recognizes exceptional volunteers, staff members and elected officials throughout Leadership Summit & Lobby Day.

The National Distinguished Advocacy Award, which is ACS CAN's most prestigious advocacy honor, is awarded for leadership in the movement to end cancer as a public health problem. The 2018 recipients were:

U.S. Representative Mike McCaul (R-TX)

Congressman Mike McCaul, founder and co-chair of the Congressional Childhood Cancer Caucus, demonstrated his commitment to fighting pediatric cancer by championing the Childhood Cancer Survivorship, Treatment, Access and Research (STAR) Act, elevating the legislation to increase funding for pediatric drug development and treatment options. The STAR Act was passed unanimously by the House and became the most comprehensive childhood cancer bill ever signed into law.

U.S. Representative Nita Lowey (D-NY)

Congresswoman Nita Lowey led New York's delegation in support of bipartisan legislation increasing cancer research funding for three years in a row. She has been a champion of the Breast Cancer and Environmental Research Act, which will save lives by specifically increasing research examining the correlation between breast cancer incidence and the environment.

Virginia State Senator Emmett Hanger (R)

Senator Emmett Hanger played a pivotal role in expanding access to affordable health care through Medicaid to 400,000 low-income Virginians. The senator's steadfast support of the bipartisan budget compromise that brought Medicaid to thousands of state residents demonstrated his commitment to his constituents and their health.

Virginia Governor Ralph Northam (D)

Governor Ralph Northam persevered through legislative resistance to make affordable health coverage for 400,000 Virginians a reality by increasing access through Medicaid. The governor's longtime support of public health issues demonstrates his dedication to improving the health of his state.

Volunteer Awards:

Volunteer Award for Excellence in Advocacy: Maureen G. Mann, ACS CAN Board Treasurer

Maureen Mann has served on the ACS CAN Board of Directors since 2013 as the income development chair, Board secretary, and currently as the Board treasurer and Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee. She has been an active Florida volunteer for nearly two decades and was involved in the passage of many mission priority policies, including smoke-free workplaces, a \$1 per pack cigarette tax increase and protecting funding for the state's tobacco control program.

State Lead Ambassador of the Year: Jacqueline Beale, Maryland

Jacqueline Beale has served as a skilled and extremely effective American Cancer Society and ACS CAN volunteer for the past decade. As Maryland's leading volunteer, she has garnered support from members of Congress for top legislative priorities, including cancer research funding, early detection programs and a palliative care bill.

Ambassador Constituent Team Leads of the Year:

Ashley Watts, Oklahoma

Ashley Watts led the fight to ban all indoor tanning devices from minors in Oklahoma and implement sun-safe initiatives in cities all over the state, while simultaneously working to grow her state team and participate in local American Cancer Society and ACS CAN events.

CJ Heisler, Michigan

CJ Heisler dedicates many weekends to attending American Cancer Society events and growing ACS CAN membership. CJ's determination to develop a strong relationship with his member of Congress contributed heavily to the cosponsorship of several pieces of ACS CAN's mission priority legislation.

Lorna Hill, Ohio

Lorna Hill cultivated a strong, positive relationship with a state representative by testifying on behalf of and spreading awareness about Ohio's palliative care bill, helping to secure cosponsorship on key priority legislation.

Emerging Leader:

Emily Fain, Georgia

Emily Fain has supported the fight against cancer as an ACS CAN intern, Georgia ACT Lead and decade-long supporter of the American Cancer Society Relay For Life movement. In each position, Emily has supported and led her team with passion and determination.

State Advocacy Team of the Year: Oklahoma

The Oklahoma team prevailed against a challenging political backdrop to secure a \$1 per pack tax increase on cigarettes and protected state funding for tobacco prevention and cessation programs. The team of staff and volunteers used coalition-building, lobbying, grassroots and media efforts to quickly respond to multiple attempts to block implementation of the tax.

Judicial Advocacy Initiative: Kelly Dunbar of WilmerHale

This award recognizes attorneys who generously donate their services to the cancer fight. Kelly Dunbar led the legal team that filed a lawsuit against the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in order to compel the agency to regulate e-cigarettes and cigars as required by Congress.



Cathy Callaway, ACS CAN director of State and Local Campaigns and recipient of the 2018 Alan Mills Award, posed alongside American Cancer Society and ACS CAN CEO Gary Reedy (left), former ACS CAN President Chris Hansen and ACS CAN Vice President of Advocacy Administration, Training and Operations Jeff Martin.



The **Oklahoma** state advocacy team was recognized for advocating for a \$1 per pack tax increase on cigarettes and protecting state funding for tobacco prevention and cessation programs.

Staff Awards:

Field Government Relations Professional of the Year: Heather Youmans, Florida Senior Government Relations Director

Heather Youmans has championed efforts year after year to increase state funding for early detection programs, and last year led the Florida team and a partner coalition to protect state funding for tobacco prevention programs.

Field Grassroots Professional of the Year: Alyss Patel, Arizona Grassroots Manager

Alyss Patel has strengthened the Arizona state team by hosting annual advocacy trainings and recruiting a diverse group of dedicated volunteers from every congressional district in Arizona.

American Cancer Society Partner of the Year: Coleen McKinstry, Senior Manager of Community Development

Coleen McKinstry has served as a senior manager with her Making Strides Against Breast Cancer event for five years, taking every opportunity to promote ACS CAN's legislative priorities at community events and attending Day at the Capitol events in Phoenix every year.

National Professional of the Year: Brian Rubenstein, Senior Director of Digital Strategy

Brian Rubenstein guides the strategy and training for ACS CAN's digital grassroots efforts, and was instrumental in developing the Ambassador Action Center, a multiyear project that advances our mission and further integrates our volunteer structure.

Alan Mills Award*:

Cathy Callaway, Director of State and Local Campaigns

Cathy Callaway has spent her 15 years with ACS CAN navigating state and local legislative landscapes to guide, strengthen and champion ACS CAN's tobacco prevention policy program. During her tenure leading our tobacco control strategy, numerous communities have adopted comprehensive smoke-free laws and tobacco tax increases.

* The Alan Mills Award, ACS CAN's highest honor for advocacy staff, is presented to the individual who best embodies the passion and dedication of the late Alan Mills, a former American Cancer Society staff lobbyist and one of the founders of their National Government Relations department.

ACS CAN Donors

Judicial Advocacy Initiative Contributors

Anderson & Kreiger Dentons K&L Gates Kilpatrick Townsend Morrison & Foerster Polsinelli Sher Tremonte WilmerHale ZuckermanSpaeder

Corporate Champions

AbbVie Bristol-Myers Squibb Celgene Eli Lilly and Company Genentech Merck & Co. Pfizer PhRMA Regeneron Sanofi

Corporate Allies

Amgen Astellas AstraZeneca EMD Serono Exact Sciences Hologic Janssen Oncology Novartis Takeda

Corporate Heroes

Association for Accessible Medicines Biotechnology Innovation Organization Eisai IQVIA Lyft Sandoz Seattle Cancer Care Alliance Walgreens Boots Alliance

Corporate Friends

AdvaMedDx Allina Health System Dana-Farber Cancer Institute Foundation Medicine Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center Genomic Health Inc. ImmunoGen Inova Health System Kite Pharmaceuticals Mayo Foundation Memorial Cancer Institute Myriad Genetics Ocean State Job Lot Partners Health Care PRA Health Sciences Sanford Health Summa Health Swedish Medical Center Taiho Oncology Texas Society of Clinical Oncology UCLA Health University of Arizona Cancer Center University of Colorado Health Western & Southern Financial

Corporate Sponsors

Allegheny Health Network Cancer Institute Amica Mutual Insurance Company AT&T Avera Health Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Alabama Blueprint Medicines Boston Children's Hospital Boston University Brigham and Women's Hospital Cataldo Ambulance CVS Health Daiichi Sankyo GMMB GS Strategy Group Harvard Medical School Helsinn Therapeutics KSQ Therapeutics

Lahey Health Lathrop Gage Massachusetts General Hospital Cancer Center Medical College of Wisconsin Cancer Center Neighborhood Health Plan of Rhode Island Ohio State University Medical Center Oregon Oncology Specialists Pannone Lopes Devereaux & O'Gara LLC Roche Diagnostics Corporation Seattle Genetics Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center at Jefferson SmithGroup South Carolina Oncology Society Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center TD Bank TESARO Thomas Jefferson University Trinity Health United States Pharmacopeia University of Virginia Verastem Vertex Virginia Mason Vox Global LLC Wake Forest Baptist Medical Center Winning Connections Inc. X4 Pharmaceuticals

Major CANpaign

Dr. John W. Hamilton Robert E. Youle

Chairman's Circle

Dr. Richard Deming Dr. Douglas K. Kelsey Gary Reedy Dr. Bruce Waldholtz

President's Circle

AARP Acentech Mark Anderson Charles Schwab P. Kay Coleman

President's Circle (Continued)

Colonial Property Management Ed Coulter Deciphera Pharmaceuticals Joe Dougherty Dr. Margaret Drugay Dr. Elizabeth T.H. Fontham Dr. Lewis E. Foxhall Christopher W. Hansen HarborOne Bank HealthONE System Support HIMSS Idera Pharmaceuticals Independence Blue Cross Kris Kim Jim Knox Mr. & Mrs. Robert Kugler Grace Kurak Michael Kurak Dr. Robert Langdon Jr. Dr. Donna Lundy Maureen Mann John J. Manna Jr. Michael Marquardt Massachusetts Biotechnology Council Massachusetts Society of Clinical Oncologists Memorial Hermann Memorial City Medical Center Moderna Therapeutics Dr. Karen Moffitt Scarlott Mueller PacificSource Health Plans Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP Providence Health & Services **Emanuel Rouvelas** Dr. Christy A. Russell Peter S. Sheldon Daniel Smith Carter Steger Gary Streit Thermo Fisher Scientific Dr. & Mrs. Alan Thorson William Underriner United Healthcare Dr. Shalini Vallabhan Verrill Dana W2O Group

Champion's Circle

Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium Haley Armstrong Arnold Public Affairs Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. Austin Hawk Barbara Behal Benefis Health System Blackbaud Joel Blount Blue Cross Blue Shield of Rhode Island Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Lori Bremner Broward Regional Health Planning Council Marissa Brown Thomas Brown CG Life California Life Sciences Campaign Workshop Cancer Awareness Network Capitol City Group Carpionato Properties Sandra Cassese Cellnetix Labs LLC Centene Corporation Charter Care City of Hope Rep. Matt Claman Kay Clark **Cleveland Clinic** Community Health Network Inc. Connecticut State Medical Society Cornerstone Government Affairs Dr. Kevin Cullen Michael Dany Dentists of Oregon PAC Barbara Diver George Diver Jr. Denis Ducey Duke University Edgefield County Hospital Evergreen Health Dr. Mark Fleury Foundation for Healthy Generations G1 Therapeutics Inc GlaxoSmithKline Daniel Glickman

Dr. Mark Goldberg Peter Gross Robert Gross Dr. James Hamilton Jr. Harold Lee Miller Photography Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Daniel Heist Hendricks Regional Health Hennepin Healthcare Dr. Enrique Hernandez Highmark Blue Cross Blue Shield John Hoctor Lori Hoherz Home Front Communications LLC Kelly Howley Paul Hull Dr. Barry Hummel Jr. Iowa Biotechnology Association Bernard Jackvony Jefferson Monroe Consulting LLC Daniel Junius Karmanos Cancer Institute Kasirer LLC Keesler Federal Credit Union John Killpack Marianne Kipper Lisa Lacasse Cynthia LeBlanc Dr. Beth Lesnikoski Mary Lippman Edith Lundy M+R Strategic Services Inc Jency Marcantel Kathleen Martens Jeffrey Martin Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center Miami Cancer Institute Catherine Mickle Mississippi Hospital Association Moffitt Cancer Center Moncrief Cancer Center Mountain Pacific Quality Health Foundation James Murray Nebraska Medicine/University of Nebraska Medical Center Oakland Athletics Olson Hagel & Fishburn LLP

Champion's Circle (Continued)

Oregon Health and Science University Penn Medicine Perlmutter Cancer Center at NYU Langone Health Perry Undem LLC Philanthropy in Action Tim Phillips Dr. Bud Pierce Polaris Solutions LLC Polsinelli Preferred Healthcare Staffing Presbyterian Healthcare Services Public Opinion Strategies LLC Lois Raboin Dr. Ujwala Rajgopal Vanessa Ramirez Jose Ramos Jr Reid McNally & Savage LLC Maryam Rezaie Riester Cathy Rivera Castro Ropes & Gray LLP Lindy Roth Saint Joseph Mercy Health System SEngine Precision Medicine Soapbox St. Alexius Medical Center St. Elizabeth Health Care St. Louis University Cancer Center St. John Health System/Ascension Stanford Healthcare Dr. Tracey Stokes Studio North Surescripts Douglas Tanner Tarplin Downs & Young Pam Traxel UC San Diego Health UNC Lineburger Comprehensive Cancer Center University Health System University of Chicago Medical Center Virginia Beach Department of Economic Development Washington State Hospital Association Washington State Medical Oncology Society Waxie Sanitary Supply Dr. Richard Wender Stephanie Winn Amy Wirth WJAR-NBC10 Ray Young

Hero's Circle

Josie Abboud Conover Able III Bob Adams John Alfonso Justine Allen Dr. Andrejs Avots Bank of America Joe Barbetta Lance Barbour Jocelyn Bernson Aaron Bishop Michele Bloch David Bonfilio Dr. Ruben Boyajian Hyman Brody Frank Bruno Jr. Dr. Carolyn Bruzdzinski Nathan Bush Dr. Judith Calhoun Cancer Treatment Centers of America Ray Carson Coastway Cares Charitable Foundation II, Inc. Leigh Countryman Linda Crawford Alissa Crispino Custom Ink Fundraising Darrell's Brew-n-Que Diana Diaz **Robert Douglas** Candace Dowling Dr. Raymond Dubois Mitzi Elkes Sam Ellis Mark Envedy Jeff Fehlis First Western Bank & Trust Kelly Flaherty Nick Galash Daniel Gearing

James Gray Gregg Haifley Sheri Harvey Jill Haupt Horizon Pharma USA Inc. Idacorp Employees Community Service Fund IEC Group Inc. Stephen Jackson Debbie Jasinski Beth Johnson Ethel Johnson Mary Catherine Johnson Matt Jordan Leonine Public Affairs Jordan Price Wall Gray Jones & Carlton PLLC Kalispell Regional Medical Center Kay Kamm Kansas Hospital Association Knights of Columbus Carmel Council 3605 Charles Koretke Michael Krupa University of Kansas Cancer Center Clark Lamboy Crystal Landavazo Jeff Lennon Jackie Liebman Nancy Lohman Mary Lukens Dr. Sharon Lum William Mahoney Dr. Esther Matassarin-Jacobs Mayo High School Athletics Hall of Fame Keith McCormick McDermott Quilty & Miller LLP Devon McFadden Reginald McGill Karen McKay Melissa McLain Katie McMahon McQuade Distributing Merrill Corporation Methodist Healthcare Ministries James Murphy NAACCR Inc. National Financial Services LLC Bill Navarra Keith Nelson

Hero's Circle (Continued)

North Valley Hospital Norton Healthcare Philip O'Brien Oklahoma Primary Care Association Carol Oldenburg Erin O'Neill Oregon Medical Association Oregonians for Clem Diane Petagna **Diane Phillips** Alice Pomponio PSA Airlines Inc. Dr. Susan Rawl Resources for Change Lisa Richards Andrea Ridenour Katie Riley **Elgerine Roberts** Steven Ross Mary Rouvelas Sacramento Public Library Marlene Sanders Dr. Charles Saxe Peter Sedlak Kirsten Sloan Karen Smith-Hagman Vincent Souza Annette Spellen Susan Spurlock-Rawlins Dr. Christopher Squier St. Peter's Health Students of UAA School of Social Work Gerald Sullivan Sunovion Angie Sylling Tax Help Santa Fe Andrea Thomas Troutman Sanders LLP Julie Turner Lana Uhrig University of Oklahoma Health Science Center/Stephenson Cancer Center Ann Vaughan Veritas Advisors LLP Margaret Vos Walmart

Margaret Wessel West Virginia University School of Dentistry Lafe Wheeler Carolyn Williams-Goldman Wolfe County Farm Bureau Insurance Wyoming Foundation for Cancer George Young Susy Zimny

Leader's Circle

Tracy Anguiano Applebee's Angela Arguello Patricia Avery Lynda Barbour Andrea Barish John Baron Shelly Barsanti Dr. Arnold Baskies Cindy Bedford Jeffrey Bennett Clifford Berg Jr. Frances Berger Dr. Carmen Bergom Carol Bluske Trina Bose North Mitch Brauchie Michelle Brown Nadene Bruders Mike Busch **BVH** Architecture Margo Bykonen Tracy Cade Cafe Aroma Cathryn Callaway Deanne Calvert Mercy Campos Pearl Carter Gary Cassinelli Billie Ann Caza Elisheva Chamblin Stephanie Chapelliquen Carol Clark Hillary Clarke Sandi Conniff Linda Cookingham Ron Coonelly

Coventry Group Fitness Bernice Culbertson Jennifer Cutrer Robert Dacquisto Dan's Supermarket Bakery Mel Davies Dr. Maria De Jesus Xavier Decaire Christian Dimaano Lori Drew Minority Leader Jim Durkin EC Cleaning Lawn & Maintenance Dr. Patrick Fahey Amy Fink Eileen Fink Lois Fitzpatrick Dawn Flookes Tom Flookes Barbara Flye Pam Fontem Rob Forsland Tyler Fortun Cindy Fox Charlie Gagen Lori Garcia Rosetta Garrett Stephen Gendel Bridget Gerhardt Sandra Geroux Kate Gever Charles Gilkes Dr. Daniel Glotzer Rachel Gomez Storm Goodlin Michael Grady Mary Greenlees Gerard Grim Jamie Gross Marcus Hall Mary Hanlan Hess Kathryn Hansen Jan Hardin Trista Hargrove Julianne Hart Dr. Alan Henderson Deanna Henkle Lorna Hill

Leader's Circle (Continued)

Tina Hoebelheinrich Michael Holtz Diana Hoover-Sulewski Dr. Chen Huang Brian Hummell J & J's Pizzeria Emery Jakab Bryte Johnson Jr. Deirdre Johnson Dr. Nathalie Johnson Ramone Johnson Betty Lou Jones Linda Jones Jason Jorstad Donnett Jourdan Christy Kaster Donna Kemberling George Kendall Kentucky Science Center Inc. Kelly Kenyon John Kernohan Pat Killen Rob King Kristopher Kipp Kirkwood Scheels Juanita Kizor James Knibbe Judith Krassner Deborah Laclair Russell Laniak Robin Levy Scott Lewis Mari Lunsford Rebecca Mackenzie Malcolm Manwell Elizabeth Martin Matthew Martin Ryan Matejka Scott May Tom McCoy Mary McHale Kendra McLaughlin Ken Melton Metro Minnesota Oncology Nursing Society Brenda Miller

Andrew Mitchell Karen Moilanen Philip Moilanen Mark Moreno Emily Myatt Michael Neal Christine Nelson Barbara Nickles Pam Niese Dr. Jesse Nodora North Carolina Bioscience Organization Northern Lights Chorus Men's Ensemble Keval Patel Praful Patel Dr. Jean Paul Greg Pemberton Darren Perry Matt Prokop Grace Pugh Robert Pugh Bryan Rause Kathryn Raven Dr. Maria Lourdes Reyes Dr. Sid Roberts Christian Roche Cindy Roragen Rosewood Restaurant Corp. Judy Rospenda Brenda Rountree Lisa Ryan Samuel Shapiro & Company Inc. **Bernice Sanders** Robert Sartin Zachary Schlagel Todd Schleifstein Nick Schoeffler Dawn Scott Duncan Scott Dwight Selby Cynthia Serna Edwina Shaw Dr. Robert Shreck Rose Shulgay Jerry Siever Peggy Silbert Travonna Smith

Jennifer Sobajian Jeff Soukup Pamela Spence Cora Spencer Citseko Staples Miller Deanna Stein Sheila Stickel Judith Stokes Jane Streets Sweet Treats Cupcake Bar Paul Sylling Andrea Taurins Sandie Terenzi Lavoie The Starving Rooster Scott Thomas Toasted Frog Carol Tucker Turbospin Cycling LLC Brenda Turner Steve Tyrrell Nnenna Uche University of Toledo Heidi Varner Veterans of Foreign Wars Post 9785 Pamela Warshavsky Mary Beth West Ann Wheet Melinda Williams Thomas Williams Julie Wrigley Dr. Jerome Yates Greg Yoshii Susan Youmans George Zainyeh Michelle Zornes

Special Thanks

The following are some of the individuals and organizations that helped make 2018 such a successful year for ACS CAN. We extend a sincere thank-you to those not specifically mentioned here, as this list is by no means exhaustive. Please know your contributions did not go unnoticed.

State Lead Ambassadors Ambassador Constituent Teams National Ambassador Team ACS CAN Staff ACS CAN Board of Directors

Coaches vs. Cancer

Coach P.J. Carlesimo, former NCAA and NBA coach Coach Steve Donahue, University of Pennsylvania Coach John Gallagher, University of Hartford Coach Chris Holtmann, Ohio State University Coach Jeff Jones, Old Dominion University

Speakers at 2018 Lights of HOPE Ceremony Mark Alles, Chairman and CEO of Celgene U.S. Representative Donald Payne, Jr. (D-NJ)

Matt Iseman, cancer survivor and speaker at ACS CAN's 12th annual Leadership Summit & Lobby Day Ned Sharpless, MD, Director of the National Cancer Institute Thomas Van Veen, Documentary Associates

American Cancer Society Colleges Against Cancer American Cancer Society Making Strides Against Breast Cancer American Cancer Society Relay For Life

The House Cancer Caucus The Senate Cancer Coalition

Judicial Advocacy Initiative Volunteers

Alex Chern, Esg. Allison Cohen, Esq. Adam Cooper, Esq. Kelly Dunbar, Esq. Ashley Edmonds, Esq. Lynn Eisenberg, Esq. Bruce Fried, Esa. Andrew Goldfarb, Esq. Heather Han, Esq. Alex Hemmer, Esq. Julius Hobson, Esq. Ari Holzblatt, Esq. Linsday Kaplan, Esq. Kevin Lamb, Esq. Scott Lewis, Esq. John Longstreth, Esq. Summer Martin, Esq.

Sean McGlynn, Esg. Beth Neitzel, Esq. Lidia Niecko-Najjum, Esq. William O'Brien, Esq. Joseph Palmore, Esq. Kimo Peluso, Esq. Beth Petronio, Esa. Cybil Roehrenbeck, Esq. Emanuel Rouvelas, Esq. Gabriel Scott, Esq. Emily Shaw, Esq. Julie Shroyer James Siegel, Esq. Jessica Wall, Esq. James Walsh Julius Wilson



Chris Hansen

ACS CAN volunteers and staff sincerely thank Chris Hansen for serving as ACS CAN president for the past nine years. Under his leadership, ACS CAN has dramatically expanded its grassroots network, strengthened its influence in Congress and state legislatures nationwide and ensured the voices of cancer patients are heard and recognized at all levels of government. Chris leaves a lasting impact on ACS CAN that will be felt for years to come.



fightcancer.org

©2019, American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network, Inc. No. 766018 Rev. 8/19